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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT oo

EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN7 wiy 22 f11 25

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 05-CR-311 (LSA)
RONALD A. MISERENDINO,

Defendant.

PLEA AGREEMENT

l. The United States of America, by its attorneys, Steven M. Biskupic, United
States Attorney for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, and Matthew L. Jacobs, Assistant
United States Attorney, and the defendant, Ronald A. Miserendino, individually and by his
attorney, Jonathan L. Marks, (collectively the “parties”) pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal
Rules of Criminal Procedure, enter into the following plea agreement:

CHARGES

2. The defendant has been charged in all ten counts of a ten-count superseding
indictment returned in this district on May 11, 2006. The indictment charges the defendant
with bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (Count One); mail fraud, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1341 (Counts Two through Seven); wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343
(Count Eight); tax evasion, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201 (Count Nine); and conspiring

to commit money laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) (Count Ten).
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3. The defendant has read and fully understands the charges contained in the
superseding indictment and fully understands the nature and elements of the crimes with
which he has been charged. Further, these charges and the terms and conditions of the plea
agreement have been fully explained to the defendant by his attorney.

4. The defendant voluntarily agrees to plead guilty to the charges contained in
Counts Nine and Ten of the superseding indictment, which charge him with tax evasion
(Count Nine) and conspiring to commit money laundering (Count Ten).

5. The defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that he is, in fact, guilty
of the offenses charged in Counts Nine and Ten. The parties acknowledge and understand
that if this case were to proceed to trial, the government would be able to prove the following
facts beyond a reasonable doubt:

During the period from the early 1970s through approximately January,
2001, the defendant, Ronald A. Miserendino (herein referred to as
“Miserendino”) lived in Wisconsin. In 2001, Miserendino moved to Hawaii.
In the early 1970s, Miserendino formed Trace Corporation (“Trace”), which
was a Wisconsin corporation primarily engaged in the business of renting and
developing real estate. Up until at least January 1, 2001, Miserendino was the
president and 100% owner of Trace. As of January, 2001, the assets of Trace
included a multi-unit apartment complex known as Estabrook Homes, located
in Shorewood, Wisconsin, and ten U.S. Treasury bonds having a face value of
$10 million.

In addition, Trace was the 100% owner of Trace Maui Corporation
(“Trace Maui”), which was incorporated in the State of Hawaii. Trace Maui
was formed in 1995. As of January 1, 2001, the assets of Trace Maui included
three pieces of real estate on the island of Maui. In approximately 1999, Trace
Maui built a residence on one of the pieces of real estate. The other two lots
remained vacant.
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OnJune 18,1979, Miserendino was married in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
On January 31, 2001, Miserendino’s wife filed a Petition for Divorce in
Milwaukee County Circuit Court. In connection with the divorce,
Miserendino’s wife sought a division of the couple’s property, including the
assets of Miserendino’s businesses.

In connection with the divorce proceeding, on June 18, 2001, the
divorce court stated that Trace’s assets were frozen and precluded Miserendino
from withdrawing assets from the corporation without the court’s permission.
Miserendino never sought and the divorce court never granted Miserendino
permission to sell or otherwise dispose of the corporation’s assets.

Mark V. Miserendino (“Mark”) was Miserendino’s adult son from a
previous marriage. Sometime in 2001, Miserendino signed documents making
Mark the president and owner of 49% of the stock of Trace. The government
has located two versions of a consent resolution removing Miserendino as
president; appointing him as vice-president; and appointing Mark as president.
The first is signed by both Mark and Ronald Miserendino and is dated January
19, 2001. The second bears only the signature of Ronald Miserendino and is
dated January 22, 2001.

During the pendency of his divorce, Miserendino engaged in a series of
financial transactions to convert the assets to his own benefit and to the benefit
of third parties and ultimately deprived his wife of access to and the benefit of
these assets.

Firstar loans.

In February, 2001, Miserendino obtained a $4.5 million loan in the
name of Trace from Firstar Bank, which is now known as U.S. Bank. At the
same time, Miserendino obtained a $500,000 advance on Trace’s line of credit
at the bank. At all times, the deposits at Firstar Bank were insured by the
federal government through the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”). Miserendino pledged the U.S. Treasury bonds owned by Trace to
secure both the loan and the advance. To obtain these extensions of credit,
Miserendino represented, among other things, that a purpose of the loan was
to facilitate an offer on the purchase of an apartment complex. The bank
documents signed by Miserendino to obtain these extensions of credit reflect
that Miserendino was then the president of Trace. At Miserendino’s direction,
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Firstar disbursed the proceeds from these loans in the form of five bank
checks, each in the amount of $§1 million, payable to Miserendino personally.

Beginning in August, 2001, Miserendino gave his son Mark three of the
Firstar checks. At Miserendino’s direction, Mark exchanged these $1 million
checks for smaller cashier’s checks payable to Miserendino. Mark then sent
the cashier’s checks to Miserendino in Hawaii by commercial interstate carrier,
such as Federal Express. These checks were deposited to bank accounts
maintained by Miserendino in Hawaii and later withdrawn in cash.

U.S. Treasury Bonds

In July, 2001, Mark liquidated the Treasury bonds owned by Trace,
according to Mark, at Miserendino’s direction. These bonds had been pledged
to Firstar to secure various loans, including the loan and advance obtained by
Miserendino in February, 2001. The liquidation of Trace’s bonds generated
net proceeds, after paying Trace’s obligations at Firstar, of approximately
$2,360,000.

At Mark’s direction, Firstar disbursed the net proceeds in the form of
cashier’s checks, half of which were payable to Miserendino and half of which
were payable to Mark, according to Mark and bank records. Mark sent the
cashier’s checks payable to Miserendino, which totaled approximately
$1,180,000, to Miserendino in Hawaii by overnight commercial carrier.
Miserendino converted these checks to cash at various banks in Hawaii.

Mark converted the cashier’s checks payable to him, which also totaled
approximately $1,180,000, into cash, according to Mark at Miserendino’s

direction. Mark claims he later delivered the cash to Miserendino.

Trace Maui real estate

On or about September 19, 2001, Miserendino sold one of the vacant
lots belonging to Trace Maui. Miserendino received approximately $203,500
from this sale and deposited it to a bank account he had opened in the name of
Trace Maui. Miserendino then wired approximately $101,000 from these
proceeds to a bank account at Firstar. Miserendino withdrew the balance of
the sale proceeds in cash.
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show he brought into the United States approximately $1.9 million in cash.
This cash was proceeds from Miserendino’s scheme described above.

Bank records reflect that during the period from December 2004
through March 2006, Alexeev and Czerwinski deposited more than $541,000
in cash into various bank accounts they maintained in Oregon and Hawaii.

According to bank documents and a loan application, in April 2005,
Alexeev and Czerwinski used approximately $145,000, which they had
previously deposited to their bank accounts in cash, to purchase a residence at
11143 NW Ridgeview Place, North Plains, Oregon.

According to bank records and documents obtained from the Oregon
Department of Motor Vehicles, in December 2005, Alexeev used
approximately, $41,000, which had been previously deposited to Alexeev’s
bank account in cash, to purchase a 2006 Chevrolet Tahoe.

According to bank records, in December 2005, Alexeev opened a new
bank account and deposited $100,000 in cash into the account. According to
bank records, this money was used to fund a check in the amount of $100,000,
which was dated December 27, 2005 and payable to a law firm representing
Miserendino. These funds consisted of proceeds from Miserendino’s scheme
described above.

On December 28, 2005, Alexeev traveled to Milwaukee and testified
atahearing involving Miserendino. During this hearing, Alexeev testified that
he had never given Miserendino any significant amount of money and that
Miserendino had never given him or Czerwinski more than $500.

According to bank records, on December 29, 2005, Czerwinski used
approximately $55,000, which she previously had deposited to her bank
account in cash, to pay off the mortgage on the residence she and Alexeev
maintained in North Plains, Oregon.

According to bank records, in March 2006, Alexeev deposited another
$100,000 in cash into his bank account. These funds consisted of proceeds
from Miserendino’s scheme described above. According to bank records, this
money was used to fund a check in the amount of $100,000, which was dated
March 22, 2006, and payable to a law firm representing Miserendino.
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According to bank records, during the period from November 2005
through March 2006, Alexeev purchased a series of certificates of deposit
(“CDs”) using cash. These transactions culminated in Alexeev’s purchase of
a CD in the amount of $100,000 on March 17, 2006.

PENALTIES
6. The parties understand and agree that the offenses to which the defendant will
enter a plea of guilty carry the following maximum term of imprisonment and fine: Count
Nine (tax evasion), five (5) years and $250,000; and Count Ten (money laundering
conspiracy), twenty (20) years and $500,000. Each charge also carries a mandatory special
assessment of $100 and a maximum term of supervised release to follow any term of
confinement of up to three years.
7. The defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that he has discussed
the relevant statutes, as well as the applicable sentencing guidelines, with his attorney.
ELEMENTS
8. The parties understand and agree that in order to sustain the charge of tax
evasion, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201, as set forth in Count Nine of the superseding
indictment, the government must prove each of the following propositions beyond a

reasonable doubt:

First, on April 15, or date of a legal extension, of the year following the tax
year, federal income tax was due and owing by the defendant;

Second, the defendant intended to evade or defeat the ascertainment,
assessment, computation or payment of the tax; and

Third, the defendant willfully did some act in furtherance of the intent to evade
the tax or payment of the tax.



Case 2:05-cr-00311-LA  Filed 05/22/2007 Page 7 of 23 Document 103



















































